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JOHNNY AND PAMELLA ZAMRZLA’S CLOSING REPLY BRIEF 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The Settling Parties and Watermaster (“SP & WM”) repeatedly misrepresent the facts and 

evidence, and disparage Johnny and Pamella Zamrzla1, in a strained effort to try to prevent the 

Zamrzlas from obtaining the relief to which they are entitled. 

Apart from the many misrepresentations, the SP & WM’s main argument is, essentially, 

that no remedy exists for a party wronged by the Antelope Valley Groundwater Adjudication.  If 

the arguments they set forth are to be confirmed, it would mean that regardless of any mistakes in 

service, or in due process, no person who was not given proper notice, or otherwise denied their 

due process rights in the underlying litigation, may seek a remedy in law or equity.  Of course, the 

SP & WM are incorrect in this assertion. 

In litigation of such massive scope (both in years and number of parties) it is simply not 

possible that no mistake was made along the way.  The questions before this Court with respect to 

the Zamrzlas are: does the Court have the power to grant relief to a party that was not properly 

served with notice of the underlying litigation?  Can this Court uphold the integrity of the 

adjudication by correcting errors as to specific parties when such errors are identified?  The answers 

are clearly yes. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. The Court Has the Inherent Power in Equity to Modify or Set Aside the 
Judgment. 

The SP & WM have repeatedly attempted to couch the Zamrzlas’ motions as a collateral 

attack on the judgment.  The purpose of this is to assert that the Zamrzlas are thus not permitted to 

offer extrinsic evidence in support of their claims.  Of course, neither the SP nor the WM have 

specifically rebutted the actual legal authorities the Zamrzlas have offered in support of their 

motions.   

As detailed in the Zamrzlas’ closing briefs, an equitable attack on a judgment or order, 

whether by motion in the same action or by a separate action in equity, is a direct attack on the 

judgment or order.  (Bennett v. Hibernia Bank (1956) 47 Cal.2d 540, 558; Olivera v. Grace (1942) 

 
1 The Zamrzlas regret to inform the Court that Pamella Zamrzla passed away on May 21, 2023. 
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JOHNNY AND PAMELLA ZAMRZLA’S CLOSING REPLY BRIEF 
 

19 Cal.2d 570, 575.)  Extrinsic evidence is admissible on a direct attack in equity to set aside a 

judgment on the ground of extrinsic fraud or mistake.  (Bae v. T.D. Service Co. (2016) 245 

Cal.App.4th 89, 98; Sousa v. Freitas (1970) 10 Cal.App.3d 660, 667; Munoz v. Lopez (1969) 275 

Cal.App.2d 178, 183–184.)  Fraud or mistake is extrinsic when it deprives the unsuccessful party 

of an opportunity to present his case to the court.  (Rogers v. Mulkey (1944) 63 Cal.App.2d 567, 

575.)  A mistaken belief of one party preventing proper notice of the action has been held to be a 

mistake warranting equitable relief.  (Aldabe v. Aldabe (1962) 209 Cal.App.2d 453, 475.)  The 

circumstances which deprive an adversary of a fair notice of a hearing or which prevent him from 

having a fair hearing may be acts of the opponent not amounting to actual or intentional fraud.  

Extrinsic mistake is sufficient.  (Antonsen v. Pacific Container Co. (1941) 48 Cal.App.2d 535; 

Davis v. Davis (1960) 185 Cal.App.2d 788, 793, 794.) 

Equity’s jurisdiction to interfere with final judgments is based upon the absence of a fair, 

adversary trial in the original action.  (Saunders v. Saunders (1958) 157 Cal.App.2d 67, 72.)  It is 

well established that in cases where the aggrieved party is unable to make out a case of intentional 

fraud, the courts on motion will extend a liberal interpretation to relieve him from a judgment taken 

without a fair adversary hearing.  (Davis v. Davis (1960) 185 Cal.App.2d 788, 794; Evry v. Tremble 

(1957) 154 Cal.App.2d 444; Watson v. Watson (1958) 161 Cal.App.2d 35.)  The basis for equitable 

relief in these cases, whether it be denominated “extrinsic fraud” or “extrinsic mistake,” is that 

which has resulted in a judgment taken under circumstances of unfairness and injustice without 

affording a party the opportunity to participate in the proceedings. (Id.; Saunders, supra, 157 

Cal.App.2d 67; Dei Tos v. Dei Tos (1951) 105 Cal.App.2d 81.)  If an unsuccessful party to an action 

has been kept in ignorance thereof or has been prevented from fully participating therein there has 

been no true adversary proceeding, and the judgment is open to attack at any time.  (Rogers, supra, 

63 Cal.App.2d at p. 575 [internal citations omitted].) 

Antonsen v. Pacific Container Co. is directly on point.  Antonsen involved a plaintiff that 

gave his agent power of attorney for the limited purpose of realizing on his interests, without 

subjecting him to liability. Without the knowledge, direction, or authorization of the plaintiff, the 

agent hired an attorney to proceed in an action against defendants.  The attorney hired by the agent 
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was suspended for one year from the practice of law.  Defendants served their answers and cross-

complaints upon the attorney.  The attorney did not notify anyone of the purported service.  

Defendants then obtained a default judgment against plaintiff.  Plaintiff had no knowledge of the 

action for approximately five years when defendants commenced an action against him to recover 

on the default judgment.  Plaintiff's motion to set aside the judgment was denied.  While plaintiff's 

appeal was pending, he commenced an action in equity to set aside the default judgment based on 

the lack of service.  The trial court entered a judgment for plaintiff.  The Court noted that while it 

was “entirely clear that there was no actual fraud on the part of defendants’ counsel, we are of the 

opinion that plaintiff was entitled to the relief granted.”  (Antonsen, supra, 48 Cal.App.2d 535.)  

Like the Zamrzlas, the plaintiff in Antonsen did not discover he was subject to the action until years 

afterwards.  Nonetheless, the court concluded that it would be a travesty of justice not to set aside 

the judgment and that plaintiff was not required to show actual fraud.  (Antonsen, supra, 48 

Cal.App.2d 535.)   

The SP & WM contend no extrinsic evidence is permitted to be considered.  But of course, 

how could a mistake or fraud be proven without such evidence?  The SP & WM continue to try to 

couch the Zamrzlas’ efforts as a collateral attack because it benefits the SP & WM to do so.2  They 

know that once considered, the facts and evidence paint a clear picture of insufficient notice and 

inadequate due process.  Because of the failure to properly serve them with notice of the litigation, 

the Zamrzlas were prevented from engaging in the underlying litigation.  This mistake resulted in 

denial of the Zamrzlas’ due process rights and denial of the Zamrzlas’ ability to participate in an 

adversarial hearing.  This is precisely the kind of circumstance warranting relief in equity. 

Indeed, the SP & WM know full well that extrinsic evidence is permitted, and have used it 

extensively.  It was the SP & WM who filed a motion with this Court seeking to conduct discovery 

in response to the Zamrzlas’ motions.  They spent multiple days deposing the Zamrzlas, sent the 

Zamrzlas a substantial volume of written discovery, introduced dozens of exhibits at the March 

hearing, and submitted closing briefs in which they outline the evidence and why they believe it 
 

2 The Zamrzlas note, however, that one basis for relief they have set forth – that the small pumper class notice is 
defective on its face because it materially differs from the judgment – requires no extrinsic evidence, and can be decided 
on the record of the underlying adjudication. 
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support their case.  The SP & WM’s actions over the past year are an implicit admission that such 

evidence is permissible in deciding whether the Zamrzlas are entitled to equitable relief.  

B. The SP & WM Repeatedly Engage in Hyperbolic Exaggerations of the Facts 
and Evidence. 

Attorneys have an obligation to zealously advocate for their clients.  However, they must 

do so within the parameters of the law and the rules of professional conduct.  Attorneys owe a duty 

of candor to the Court and to other parties.  In their closing briefs, the SP & WM repeatedly 

misrepresent the facts and evidence in this case and also engage in ad hominem attacks on the 

Zamrzlas’ character. 

Notwithstanding their claim that no extrinsic evidence is permitted to be considered, the SP 

& WM spend a substantial amount of time arguing the evidence.  In fact, the bulk of their briefs 

are evidence focused.  However, much of the evidence is taken out of context or outright 

misrepresented.  The examples are too numerous to identify each and every mischaracterization of 

evidence, but an effort is made here to rebut the most egregious examples: 

“Johnny Zamrzla then testified that he “gave bad information” during his 

deposition… Johnny Zamrzla failed to correct the error in his deposition transcript.”  (SP p. 

18, lines 17-22.)  Here, the Settling Parties accuse Johnny Zamrzla of wrongdoing by asserting that 

he “failed” to correct the error in his deposition transcript.  Of course, this assertion is, itself, 

misleading and unsupported by the evidence.  Johnny Zamrzla testified that he had trouble 

remembering the timeline of his communications with Mr. Hickling at his deposition, and he did 

not learn of the exact timeline (that he received the information post-judgment) until after he signed 

his deposition.  (190:19-191:13, 194:18-196:18.)  The Settling Parties’ implication that Johnny 

Zamrzla intentionally misstated facts and failed to correct his deposition is a gross 

misrepresentation of Johnny Zamrzlas’ testimony.  

 “…three class notices were duly mailed to Johnny and Pamela Zamrzla…”  (SP p. 29, 

lines 10-11.)  This is simply incorrect.  One class notice is alleged to have been mailed (Z Exh. 23), 

and the other two “notices” at issue are notices of potential class settlement.  Again, the SPs 

misrepresent the evidence.  The 2013 and 2015 notices, which purport to notify a class member of 
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potential settlement, cannot be retroactively turned into initial notices of a class action.   

 Further, the SP & WM offered no evidence to support that the 2013 and 2015 notices were 

mailed to any of the Zamrzlas.3  They simply state that it is so, but have not offered such evidence.  

Thus, the argument appears to be that this Court should presume these notices were sent to the 

Zamrzlas, without evidence, and that the Court should also presume the notices were received, read, 

and understood, by persons who did not know they were part of any small pumper class.  Indeed, 

at the time these notices were allegedly mailed, none of the Zamrzlas had heard of the small pumper 

class.  (138:2-20, 248:2-10.) 

“The Zamrzlas… admit[] on numerous occasions that they were made aware of the 

adjudication and its impact on their water rights.”  (WM p. 6, lines 22-24.)  “The Zamrzlas 

admitted to knowing about the adjudication and that their claimed water rights were at risk 

by at least 2009.”  (SP p. 6, line 13.)  Neither the SP nor the WM have offered any actual evidence 

supporting the conclusion that the Zamrzlas knew of the adjudication’s impact on their water rights.  

This is an oft repeated claim by both the SP & WM, but to date, not a shred of evidence has been 

produced to support it.  It is also of critical importance to this case, which is why the SP & WM so 

desperately want it to be true.  However, while the Zamrzlas have admitted to various conversations 

they had over the years about water litigation, they have always made clear they had no knowledge 

that they were subject to the adjudication until the Watermaster’s letter in 2018.  No evidence has 

been offered that in any way shows the Zamrzlas had knowledge that they were personally subject 

to the adjudication until 2018.  Any claim to the contrary is outright false. 

“Despite discovery requests, Johnny Zamrzla refused to provide the Settling Parties 

with a copy of the records provided by Norm Hickling, and did not reveal his 2016 

communication with Mr. Hickling until the March 15, 2023, hearing.”  (SP p. 17, lines 11-13.)  

Here, the Settling Parties accuse the Zamrzlas of wrongdoing in discovery.  Again, this is a gross 

misrepresentation of both the facts and the conduct of discovery in this case.  The fact that Johnny 

 
3 The two Keough declarations, ostensibly offered to show a mailing was done do not include the mailing lists to which 
the “notices” were allegedly mailed.  These declarations also note many of the notices (690 in 2013 and 770 in 2015) 
were “returned undeliverable” but fail to identify the persons to which these notices were undeliverable.  The SP & 
WM obtained the Declaration of Kevin Berg (SPW Ex 16), but why is there no similar declaration as to the 2013 and 
2015 notices of settlement?  The absence of such evidence is telling.  
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Zamrzla no longer had a copy of documents given to him by Mr. Hickling, more than six years 

ago, does not imply wrongdoing.  This is yet another example of the Settling Parties disparaging 

the Zamrzlas and attempting to distract from the main issues in this case. 

“Even though Johnny and Pamella’s daughter Sherri (sic) Zamrzla Greco is a 

California licensed attorney who participated in this proceeding and is a beneficiary of the 

Zamrzla’s family trust, they also decided against consulting her or any other attorney to 

advise them in their decision concerning their claimed water rights.”  (SP p. 12, lines 12-15.)  

Consider the claim being made here: a party – that has never been properly served with notice of 

litigation – is apparently obligated to actively seek out legal advice from a licensed attorney based 

on the mere rumor that the litigation might involve them, even where everything that party knows 

at that point is that the litigation does not involve them.  This is an absurd stance taken by the 

Settling Parties.  By this rationale, a lay person has an affirmative obligation to actively seek out 

and inject themselves into litigation.  The Settling Parties have apparently forgotten that a right to 

Due Process exists. 

“Pamella Zamrzla testified that it was possible that Johnny and Pamella Zamrzla 

received the notices in the mail.”  (SP 35, lines 23-24.)  Here, the Settling Parties intentionally 

take a figure of speech out of context to claim Pamella Zamrzla made an admission which she did 

not actually make.  The testimony cited is as follows: 

Q. Isn't it possible, ma'am, that you received 

the class notice, didn't recognize it for what it was, 

and threw it out? Isn't that possible? 

A. Anything is possible. 

(Transcript, 285:28-286:3.) 

As the Settling Parties well know, and as the Court also knows, this response was a figure 

of speech, made in exasperation in response to a strange and badgering line of questioning, in which 

counsel for Grimmway appeared to assume that because the Zamrzlas did not stamp as “received” 

documents that were not received in the mail, they must have been lying about stamping important 

mailed documents “received.”  The Settling Parties were present at the hearing, know the comment 
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was a figure of speech, and nonetheless chose to misrepresent it to the Court as an admission. 

The Zamrzlas have no choice but to point out all of the above attacks, mischaracterizations, 

and misrepresentations.  This is done not to impugn the character of the Settling Parties’ attorneys, 

but simply to highlight that the evidence is not being accurately represented to the Court.  The 

evidence is clear and the SP & WM should not be permitted to so carelessly mispresent it. 

C. The Settling Parties and Watermaster Double Down on an Unbelievable 
Version of Events that is Unsupported by the Evidence.  

The SP & WM again repeat specious claims about the Zamrzlas, which the evidence does 

not at all support.  First, they claim the Zamrzlas ignored the adjudication as a cost-saving measure.  

This claim is absurd on its face, and the evidence clearly contradicts it.  Next, they attempt to 

impugn mal intent on various actions taken by the Zamrzlas over the year – again, with no actual 

evidence to support these claims. 

1. The Claim that the Zamrzlas Ignored the Adjudication to Save Money on 
Legal Fees. 

“It is undisputed that the Zamrzlas knew about the underlying adjudication long before the 

Court’s entry of the final Judgment, but chose to ignore the potential impacts to their water rights 

in an effort to save attorneys’ fees and maximize their water production.”  (WM 16, lines 6-8.) 

Here, the Watermaster again repeats the contention that the Zamrzlas ignored the adjudication “in 

an effort to save attorneys’ fees.”  It is unclear where this theory first arose, but it has been repeated 

on numerous occasions by the SP & WM.  It might be a nice soundbite, but it is belied by the 

evidence.  As Johnny Zamrzla testified, prior to 2015, he expended no legal fees relating to the 

adjudication.  (150:17-151:2.)  However, subsequent to the 2018 letter from the Watermaster, the 

Zamrzlas have expended in excess of $500,000 in legal fees relating to the adjudication.  (193:26-

194:11.)  Thus, the representation that the Zamrzlas’ actions are explained by a penny-pinching 

desire to save money on legal fees, is utterly false.  There is not a shred of evidence to support such 

a claim, yet it continues to be repeated. 

Thus, the evidence not only does not support the SP & WM’s contention that the Zamrzlas 

intentionally ignored the adjudication to save on legal fees, but it supports the exact opposite 
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conclusion: That the Zamrzlas have so actively fought to protect their water rights since 2018 – at 

such great expense – proves they didn’t know they were subject to the adjudication prior to the 

2015 judgment.  It simply is not possible to believe that people who have acted as the Zamrzlas 

have since 2018 would have knowingly ignored the adjudication before the judgment.   

2. The Implications in the Settling Parties’ Timeline of Events are Not 
Supported by the Evidence. 

The Settling Parties created a chart (see SP p. 15-17).  The purpose appears to be to imply 

that the Zamrzlas took specific actions in response to events in the adjudication.  But the Settling 

Parties fail to connect the dots.  Indeed, the Settling Parties stop short of actually stating the events 

are connected because they lack any such evidence.  Rather, they apparently want to impugn the 

Zamrzlas’ credibility by implication.  The evidence clearly contradicts these allegations. 

SP & WM Claim: Johnny Zamrzla knew of the litigation affected him personally because 

he reads the paper.   

Actual Fact: Johnny Zamrzla did not know the adjudication affected him personally until 

he received a letter from the Watermaster in 2018. 

Evidence: The Zamrzlas first learned they were potentially subject to the adjudication when 

they received a letter from the Watermaster on July 16, 2018.  (95:7-15, 96:8-97:5, 245:11-16.)  

The SP & WM offer no evidence concerning what Johnny Zamrzla (or any other Zamrzla) 

actually read in the paper.  They offer no evidence of what information was contained in Antelope 

Valley Press articles that would have informed the Zamrzlas that they were personally alleged to 

be subject to the adjudication.   

SP & WM Claim: Gene Nebeker and Delmar Van Dam informed the Zamrzlas they were 

subject to the adjudication.   

Actual Fact: Gene Nebeker and Delmar Van Dam failed to inform the Zamrzlas that they 

were subject to the adjudication.   

Evidence: The Van Dam family are/were also heavy users of water in the Antelope Valley.  

Johnny Zamrzla and Delmar Van Dam were longtime neighbors and friends.  (80:4-25, 100:5-10.)  

They had discussions about the adjudication during its pendency, and yet, at no point did Delmar 
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advise Johnny that the Zamrzlas were subject to the adjudication, or had been listed as Small 

Pumpers.  At no point did the Van Dams raise the issue with the Court, that the Zamrzlas were 

incorrectly included on the Small Pumper list.  To the contrary, Delmar specifically told Johnny 

the adjudication did not affect the Zamrzlas, and that Johnny should continue doing what he was 

doing.  (100:25-102:25, 154:3-13.) 

When the Zamrzlas decided to go back to growing alfalfa and grass crops in the 2010 

timeframe, Delmar’s son, Craig Van Dam was hired by the Zamrzlas to install the water lines on 

the Zamrzlas’ property.  Again, at no point did Craig Van Dam advise the Zamrzlas that they were 

subject to the ongoing adjudication.  Apparently, Craig Van Dam also never advised the Court or 

any other parties that the Zamrzlas were improperly classified as Small Pumpers.  (80:4-27, 186:27-

187:27.)  Indeed, as the Settling Parties helpfully point out, Mr. Van Dam gave the Zamrzlas the 

bad advice to “stay out of the adjudication.”  (SP p. 36, lines 13-17.)   

Likewise, Eugene Nebeker, a large landowner in the Antelope Valley, was also heavily 

involved in the adjudication.  The SP & WM repeatedly inquired into a conversation that took place 

between Johnny and Pamella Zamrzla and Mr. Nebeker in approximately 2014 in which the 

adjudication was discussed.  (152:6-153:9, 154:3-13, 188:8-190:9, 251:2-20.)   

SP & WM Claim: The Zamrzlas intentionally increased their water production by growing 

alfalfa after 2010.   

Actual Fact: The Zamrzlas did not maximize their water use in 2010 and forward. 

Evidence: When none of the farming companies leased the Zamrzlas land in 2009, they 

decided to convert to growing alfalfa and other grasses for their own animals.  (77:28-78:20, 221:3-

5.)  This process included rebuilding the well and installing water lines.  (77:28-80:28.)   

The Zamrzlas did not immediately plant the full 80 acres when they began growing alfalfa 

and grasses.  Rather, the aerial imagery clearly shows a slow and gradual progression over a number 

of years.  In the first year, 2011, 40 acres were planted.  It is only in 2017 that the full 80 acres were 

planted.  (Z Exh. 26-30; 240:18-241:19.)  If the Zamrzlas were trying to maximize water usage in 

response to the adjudication, they would have promptly planted 80+ acres of alfalfa and used many 

hundreds of acre feet of water per year than they actually used. 
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SP & WM Claim: Johnny Zamrzla knew he was subject to the adjudication when he 

received a copy of the Judgment from Norm Hickling in 2016.   

Actual Fact: Johnny Zamrzla did not have an understanding that he was subject to the 

adjudication until he received the letter from the Watermaster in 2018. 

Evidence: The Zamrzlas first learned they were potentially subject to the adjudication when 

they received a letter from the Watermaster on July 16, 2018.  (95:7-15, 96:8-97:5, 245:11-16.) 

Jonny Zamrzla never even heard the term “small pumper class” until late 2018 or early 2019.  

(192:12-20.) 

The contention from the SP & WM appears to be that if a lay person receives a legal 

document, they have an obligation to seek legal advice with respect to that document, even if they 

have no reason to believe it involves them.  (See SP p. 12, lines 12-15; WM p. 7, lines 1-5.)  

Replacing proper legal notice, with placing an affirmative obligation on non-lawyers to seek out 

and inject themselves into litigation, is a patently absurd contention, with no support in the law.   

D. The 2009 Mail Notice is Defective as it Materially Differs from the Class 
Definition in the 2015 Judgment.  

Strangely, the SP & WM fail to even address the Zamrzlas’ argument regarding the 

defective 2009 notice of class action.  As detailed in the Zamrzlas moving papers and closing brief, 

the 2009 Class Notice’s definition of the Small Pumper Class materially differs from the final 

judgment definition.  This is such a critical issue in this case, the silence of the SP & WM on the 

issue is shocking.   

The June 26, 2009 Notice of Class Action for the “Small Pumper” Class Action, dated June 

26, 2009, defined Small Pumpers as follows: 

YOU ARE NOT IN THE CLASS WITH RESPECT TO ANY 
GIVEN PARCEL OF PROPERTY IF THAT PARCEL FALLS 
WITHIN ANY OF THE FOLLOWING CATEGORIES:  

1. You have pumped 25 acre-feet or more of groundwater for 
use on a that parcel in any calendar year since 1946; or 

2. You are a shareholder in a mutual water company in the Antelope 
Valley; or 

3. You are already a party to this litigation (but, in that event, you 
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may elect to join the Class). 

Per section 1 of the Small Pumper Notice, a landowner is not a member of the class if, in 

any year since 1946 the landowner pumped 25 acre-feet or more.  This definition materially 

differs from the definition in the class certification order, which defined the class as all persons 

“that have been pumping less than 25 acre-feet per year on their property during any year from 

1946 to the present.”  (Z Exh. 78.)  It also differs from the definition of the Small Pumper Class 

found at section 3.5.44 of the Judgment and Physical Solution, which states small pumpers are 

those persons “that have been pumping less than 25 acre-feet per year on their property during any 

year from 1946 to the present.”  This discrepancy in the class definition renders the notice deficient 

on its face, as it would mislead anyone reading the notice regarding who is properly a member of 

the small pumper class. No extrinsic evidence is required to reach such a conclusion.  The defect is 

apparent on the record in the adjudication.   

Importantly, this major discrepancy between the notice and the class definition fails to meet 

constitutional due process for notice because the notice was not reasonably calculated, under all the 

circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an 

opportunity to present their objections.  Nor does such notice reasonably convey the required 

information.  The notice thus fails the basic test of Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co. 

(1950) 339 U.S. 306 regarding the sufficiency of notice [The notice must be reasonably calculated, 

under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford 

them an opportunity to present their objections.  The notice must be of such nature as reasonably 

to convey the required information, and it must afford a reasonable time for those interested to 

make their appearance.] 

1. Johnny and Pamella Zamrzla are Not Small Pumpers. 

As defined by the 2009 class notice the SP & WM so heavily rely on, Johnny and Pamella 

Zamrzla do not fit the definition of the Small Pumper class.  According to Rick Koch, of Southern 

California Edison, the Zamrzlas’ Farm Well produced significantly more than 25 acre-feet per year 

every year during the studied period, with the exception of 2009-2010 (when the Zamrzlas were 

converting from leasing the farmland to their own alfalfa and grass production [see 77:28-81:3] and 
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2018 forward, when the Zamrzlas stopped producing water from the Farm Well.  (78:22-79:6.)  The 

Zamrzlas’ water production for the years prior to 2011 exceeded or equaled the average water 

produced from 2011 to 2020.  (Z Exh. 1-15.) 

Mr. Koch’s analysis also showed that the Zamrzlas’ Domestic Well pumped in excess of 

25 acre-feet in most years since 2000.  Mr. Koch’s results show that this analysis is not a close 

call—the Zamrzlas have consistently pumped far in excess of the 25 acre-feet per year maximum 

required for inclusion in the Small Pumper Class.  (Z Exh. 1-15.) 

When the SP & WM highlight the occasional year of water production that fell below 25 

acre feet, and argue that this means the Zamrzlas meet the class definition in the Judgment, they 

essentially prove the Zamrzlas’ point.  How can it be that there are competing definitions of the 

class?  How can it be that there is an argument as to whether or not the Zamrzlas meet the class 

definition?  The contradictory class definitions, and the confusion and inconsistencies that arise 

therefrom, prove the inadequacy of the 2009 notice. 

2. The Settling Parties and Watermaster Take an Inconsistent Position Regarding 
What Constitutes a Small Pumper. 

The 2015 Judgment was the result of an agreement between the numerous parties to the 

adjudication after many years of litigation.  That Judgment, at its core, was intended to equitably 

apportion the safe yield amongst all water producers in the Antelope Valley.  The Settling Parties 

and Watermaster now seek to turn the purpose and intent of the judgment on its head, and force the 

Zamrzlas into the Small Pumper Class, granting them only a tiny fraction of their historical water 

production.  Their attempt to now use the Judgment as a weapon against the Zamrzlas not only 

contradicts its purpose but is also inconsistent with past determinations and classifications of parties 

to the adjudication.   

Take, for example, Watermaster Board Member and Exhibit 4 party Wm. Bolthouse Farms, 

Inc.  The record in this matter indicates that Bolthouse Farms listed 73 total fields in which they 

grew crops.  In 2012 Bolthouse listed two fields as fallow and in 2011 Bolthouse listed 3 fields as 

fallow.  Bolthouse’s water production for 2011 and 2012 were then averaged and reported as their 

Pre-Rampdown Production in the Judgment.  However, out of the 73 Fields, they reported 27 were 
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Fallow in 2007, 44 were Fallow in 2006, 48 were Fallow in 2005, 29 were Fallow in 2002, and 36 

were Fallow in 2001.  (Docket No. 6571, EXHIBITS A THRU C Amended 5/8/13 AND EXHIBIT 

P-1, attached hereto as Exhibit A.)  If the SP & WM arguments regarding non-use in certain years 

are taken as true, Bolthouse should be classified as a Small Pumper, or at least with respect to the 

numerous fields on which no water was produced in any year since 1946; given their crop rotation 

practices, this appears to be virtually all fields, meaning their production right under the judgment 

should have been 3 acre-feet per year per well.  Even with 110 owned parcels, the total production 

right would be a far cry from the 9,945 AFY awarded to Bolthouse under the final judgment.  The 

SP & WM are attempting to apply a different standard to the Zamrzlas than was applied to other 

parties to the adjudication.  The Court should reject this attempt. 

The record reflects the Court’s intention was to provide small domestic pumpers typically 

pumping 1.2 AFY with generous permission to pump up to 3 AFY, without them each having to 

spend millions of dollars in legal fees to get that production right and to spare the Public Water 

Suppliers the burden of having to personally serve them the First-Amended Cross-Complaint of 

Public Water Suppliers For Declaratory And Injunctive Relief And Adjudication of Water Rights. 

The Zamrzlas have been unable to locate any evidence in the voluminous court record that Small 

Pumper Class Attorney McLachlan ever represented the interests of anyone who had a history of 

ever pumping over 25 AFY.  The Zamrzlas can also find no evidence that the Court intended for 

the Small Pumper Class Attorney to represent the interests of anyone who had a history of Pumping 

over 25 AFY.  For the Settling Parties and especially the Watermaster (responsible for the ethical, 

unbiased administration of the Judgment) to assert otherwise is a shocking claim.  A ruling 

accepting the SP & WM’s arguments would fly in the face of the intent and validity of the entire 

Judgment. The Zamrzlas deserve the right to be released from their alleged classification as Small 

Pumpers and to be given the opportunity to prove up an equitable historical pumping right in 

relation to the pumping histories stated on the Court record by the stipulating parties. All the 

Zamrzlas ask for is equitable treatment. 

E. Granting the Zamrzlas’ Relief Will Not Result in Catastrophe. 

The Watermaster contends that to grant the Zamrzlas’ relief would have “catastrophic 
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consequences.”  (WM p. 23.)  The Settling Parties have made similar assertions against the 

Zamrzlas.  What both fail to do is cite any legal authorities for the proposition that relief should not 

be granted in law or equity on the basis that such relief would have substantial negative 

consequences.  Here, the basic thrust of the argument is that to grant the Zamrzlas relief would “set 

a dangerous precedent” and apparently potentially unwind the entire adjudication. 

There are two problems with this claim.  The first is that it is simply not true.  The Zamrzlas 

request relief specific to themselves.  They have not requested that this court throw out the 2015 

judgment.  The Court can make the Zamrzlas whole without affecting the rights or obligations of 

any other party under the judgment, and without affecting the judgment itself. 

Second, even if granting the Zamrzlas’ motions would have the effect of throwing out the 

entire 2015 judgment if the Zamrzlas are entitled to relief under the law or equity, they are entitled 

to such relief.  The effect on other parties, or the adjudication as a whole, is irrelevant to the Court’s 

determination of the Zamrzlas’ motions.  The Zamrzlas cannot be denied a remedy to which they 

are entitled, simply out of misguided fear that the broader adjudication will be adversely affected.   

The Court should disregard the SP & WM’s legally unsupported scare tactic. 

F. The Settling Parties and Watermaster Offer no Explanation for Why Parties 
to the Litigation that Knew the Zamrzlas Were Not Small Pumpers and Knew 
the Zamrzlas Had Not Been Served did Nothing to Correct the Error Prior to 
Judgment. 

The Zamrzlas presented substantial evidence establishing that numerous parties to the 

adjudication had personal knowledge that 1) the Zamrzlas were not small pumpers; 2) knew the 

Zamrzlas were improperly classified as Small Pumpers; and 3) knew the Zamrzlas were not actively 

involved in the adjudication.  Evidence also established that despite this knowledge, at no point 

during the years of ongoing litigation did any of these parties attempt to address or rectify the 

Zamrzlas’ improper classification or absence.  At no point did any party tell the Zamrzlas, “This 

adjudication affects everyone who pumps in the Antelope Valley.”  Such parties include Grimmway 

Enterprises, the Van Dam family, and Eugene Nebeker.   

Rather than address why these parties knowingly failed to properly inform the Zamrzlas of 

the threat to their water rights, the Settling Parties accuse the Zamrzlas of “audacity and arrogance” 
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and of lacking “candor or self-responsibility.”  This caustic response, lacking any legal or factual 

argument or explanation, is revealing. 

G. Johnny and Pamella Zamrzla Have Been Denied Due Process as They Were 
Never Served Notice of the Antelope Valley Groundwater Litigation. 

Notice must be “reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested 

parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.” 

(Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co. (1950) 339 U.S. 306, 314.)  Water rights are treated 

as real property rights in California and are subject to due process law.  Once rights to use water 

are acquired, they become vested real property rights.  As such, they cannot be infringed by others 

or taken by governmental action without due process and just compensation.  (United States v. State 

Water Res. Control Bd. (1986) 182 Cal.App.3d 82, 101.)  Due process principles require reasonable 

notice and opportunity to be heard before governmental deprivation of a significant property 

interest.  (Horn v. Cty. of Ventura, (1979) 24 Cal.3d 605, 612.) 

It is well settled that “the judgment in a class action binds only those class members who 

had been notified of the action and who, being so notified, had made no request for exclusion.”  

(Steen v. Fremont Cemetery Corp. (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th 1221, 1227.)  The notice requirement is 

not only important and essential to the correct determination of the main issue it is, above all, 

jurisdictional.  (Id., at p. 1227-1228.) 

The Zamrzlas have repeatedly and consistently testified they were never served personally, 

by mail, or by publication.  No evidence to the contrary has been offered.  Instead, the SP & WM 

rely on distractions such as notices of proposed class settlement, or water code extraction notices, 

in an effort to deflect from the clearly insufficient notice. 

H. There Was No Service by Publication 

The SP & WM fail to establish effective service by publication.  No evidence has been 

offered establishing that the Zamrzlas were served by publication.  The SP & WM offered two 

exhibits relevant to the issue of service by publication: SWP Exhibits 10 and 15.  These exhibits 

fail to establish service of notice of the litigation by publication.  Rather, the exhibits show that 

notices of Proposed Settlement of Class Action were published in a few area newspapers.   
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As detailed in the Zamrzlas Closing Brief, Exhibit 10 – Supplemental Declaration of 

Michael D. McLachlan, dated December 3, 2015 – relates to the publication of Notices of Proposed 

Partial Class Action Settlement in the Los Angeles Times, the Bakersfield Californian, and the 

Antelope Valley Press.  These notices were variously published on November 3, 10, and 17, 2013; 

Exhibit 15 – Declaration of Michael D. McLachlan, dated June 4, 2015 – relates to the publication 

of Notices of Proposed Class Action Settlement in the Los Angeles Times, the Bakersfield 

Californian, and the Antelope Valley Press.  These notices were published on April 12 and April 

19, 2015, only eight months prior to the final Judgment.  Neither notice is a notice of class action.  

Both are notices of proposed settlement. 

While the SP & WM claim the 2009 Class Notice was served by publication, they fail to 

offer any evidence of such.  Whereas declarations showing proof of publication, and attaching the 

published notices, were provided for the 2013 and 2015 notices of proposed settlement, no such 

documentation was provided for the 2009 notice.  Even if it was served by publication, that notice 

was defective on its face given the critical differences between the class definition in the notice and 

the judgment.  The two notices of proposed settlement are not notices of the litigation itself.  Neither 

the 2013 notice nor the 2015 notices were intended to identify potential class members and permit 

them to opt out of the litigation.  Neither meets the Mullane standard of being “reasonably 

calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action 

and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.” (Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & 

Trust Co. (1950) 339 U.S. 306, 314.)    

I. Water Code Extraction Notices Are a Distraction from the Undisputed Fact 
that Johnny and Pamella Zamrzla Should have been Personally Served. 

The SP & WM continue to repeat the falsehood that had the Zamrzlas filed Water Code 

Extraction Notices, they would have been served.  Implicit in this claim, of course, is the admission 

that the Zamrzlas should have been personally served.  But the SP & WM take the position that it 

is the Zamrzlas’ own fault they were not personally served.   

The Zamrzlas admit they did not file extraction notices.  This has never been in dispute.  

But,  the SP & WM are improperly using the notices for a purpose for which they were not intended.  
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Not only has this Court previously ruled against using the extraction notices (Z Exh. 55-58), but 

nothing in Water Code section 4999, et seq. provides that failure to file the extraction notices means 

a property owner need not be served with notice of litigation affecting the property owner’s water 

rights.  The SP & WM are attempting to read into the Water Code penalties which do not exist.  

There is no statutorily prescribed penalty in the Water Code that a party that fails to file extraction 

notices loses its right to due process by proper service of notice of litigation against that party.  The 

SP & WM are using the extraction notice issue as character evidence, to say that because the 

Zamrzlas failed to file the extraction notices, they should essentially be punished, and should not 

be afforded due process. 

It is telling that the only response to the claim that the Zamrzlas should have been personally 

served is the extraction notice distraction.  The SP & WM have no other answer for why the 

Zamrzlas were not personally served.  In fact, it is undisputed that Johnny and Pamella Zamrzla 

were required to be personally served.  On September 12, 2008, Jeffrey Dunn filed a declaration 

regarding the status of service of process.  In that declaration, Mr. Dunn indicated that “Pursuant 

to Court Order, the Public Water Suppliers initiated personal service attempts beginning on October 

28, 2005, on over 630 parties.”  (Z Exh. 120, Docket No. 2011.)  Mr. Dunn notes that “the Court 

directed that personal service be completed upon the landowners owning at least 100 acres and/or 

known to pump more than 25 acre feet annually.”  (Z Exh. 120, Docket No. 2011.)  The Zamrzlas 

would have been easily identifiable as owners of more than 100 acres, given the length of time they 

had owned their three parcels.  The SP & WM completely ignore this issue.   

J. The Zamrzlas Have Acted Diligently and are Entitled to Equitable Relief. 

The SP & WM again assert that the Zamrzlas delayed in bringing their motions, and should 

be denied relief in equity on the basis of that delay.  However, the evidence proves the Zamrzlas 

have responded to the adjudication with diligence since they first became aware that it affected 

their water rights in 2018.  The SP & WM have no evidence of delay, they simply assert it to be so.  

At the risk of being repetitive, the Zamrzlas must again outline the history of events, post-judgment: 

The Zamrzlas did not know they were subject to the adjudication until they received the 

letter from the Watermaster in 2018.  (95:7-15, 192:12-20, 249:10-22.)  The only conversation 
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related to the adjudication that Pamella Zamrzla had prior to 2015 was the single conversation with 

Gene Nebeker previously discussed at length.  (251:2-20.)  Johnny Zamrzla was involved in various 

conversations with friends and acquaintances over the years, including Mr. Nebeker and Delmar 

Van Dam, but critically, did not have any understanding that the adjudication involved the Zamrzlas 

or would affect their pumping rights.  (152:6-153:9, 251:2-252:20.)  Neither Johnny nor Pamella 

had even heard of the Small Pumper Class until after they actively became involved in litigating 

the issues raised by the Watermaster in 2018 and onward.  (138:2-20, 248:2-10.)   

The Zamrzlas first received a letter from the Watermaster on July 16, 2018.  In response, 

they promptly retained Mr. Robert Brumfield, who requested on July 24, 2018, that the 

Watermaster stipulate to the Zamrzlas being permitted to intervene in the litigation.  No response 

was received.  Mr. Brumfield followed up again on August 6, 2018, again no response was given 

to the request.  (Z Exh. 19, pages 17-19; 95:7-15, 96:8-97:5, 245:11-17.)  Thus, the initial delays 

began due to the Watermaster’s failure to communicate with the Zamrzlas’ counsel. 

When the Watermaster finally requested information regarding how much water both sets 

of Zamrzlas planned to pump in the future, Mr. Brumfield promptly provided the requested 

information.  Sometime thereafter, the Watermaster began asserting the claim that the Zamrzlas 

were Small Pumper Class members, which was the first time the Zamrzlas had heard this allegation 

or were aware of a Small Pumper Class.  Finally, approximately six months after the letter, on 

January 22, 2019, the Watermaster invoiced the Zamrzlas for the year 2018 in the amount of 

$273,165, based on erroneous information.  Communication between the Watermaster and the 

Zamrzlas ensued throughout 2019 and 2020.  During this time the Zamrzlas willingly produced 

evidence regarding their actual water use and attempted to reach some sort of reasonable settlement 

with the Watermaster.  The Watermaster even sent the Zamrzlas a draft settlement agreement on 

April 12, 2021, however, the agreement improperly lumped Johnny and Pamella Zamrzla together 

with Johnny Lee and Jeanette Zamrzla as if they were one party.4  (Z Exh. 19, pages 17-19; 300:28-

302:25.)  Thus, another two years elapsed as the Watermaster strung the Zamrzlas along with 
 

4 This conflation of Johnny and Pamella with Johnny Lee and Jeanette continues to this day; see, for example, the 
Settling Parties’ joint brief in which they repeatedly conflate the two couples, and constantly use evidence relating to 
one couple against the other.  
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settlement negotiations that, in the end, proved fruitless. 

Apparently unwilling to correct the problems with the draft settlement agreement, on 

October 28, 2021, the Watermaster moved for monetary, declaratory, and injunctive relief against 

the Zamrzlas.  This motion was the first time the Watermaster acknowledged its error, now claiming 

the Zamrzlas owe only $28,755 based on their own reported 2018 pumping.  Notwithstanding this 

admission of error, the invoice for $273,165 remains publicly posted to the Watermaster’s website, 

despite numerous requests that it be withdrawn.  (Z Exh. 19, pages 17-19; 300:28-302:25.) 

The Zamrzlas opposed the Watermaster’s motion.  The Watermaster filed a reply brief.  

Four hearings were held as to the Watermaster’s claims: December 10, 2021, January 25, 2022, 

February 18, 2022, and March 4, 2022. (Z Exh. 19, pages 17-19.)  Another hearing was held in 

December, 2022, which was followed by the March 15-16, 2023 evidentiary hearing.  This brings 

us to the present.  What the SP & WM cannot do is point to a period of time in which the Zamrzlas 

did nothing.  They insinuate that too much time has elapsed since the judgment, but have failed to 

identify where the Zamrzlas unreasonably delayed.   

K. The Settling Parties Had Improper Ex Parte Communication with the Court.  

Finally, the Zamrzlas must lodge an objection here to the Settling Parties’ improper ex parte 

communication with the Court the day prior to their Closing Brief being filed.  The Settling Parties 

contacted counsel for the Zamrzlas a few days prior to their closing brief being due requesting that 

the Zamrzlas stipulate that the Settling Parties be permitted to file one 40-page brief addressing all 

four of the Zamrzlas, as opposed to two 20-page briefs, one addressing each couple.  The Zamrzlas 

declined to agree to this modification of the Court’s order.   

In short, a joint brief provided the Settling Parties more room to make their arguments than 

they otherwise would have had.  Introductions, Conclusions, Legal Arguments and Factual 

Background information that might need to be repeated in both briefs, now needed to be stated only 

once.  Further, the issues involving Johnny and Pamella have historically been more complex than 

the issues involving Johnny Lee and Jeanette.  Combining the briefs permitted the Settling Parties 

a substantial number of additional pages to make their arguments.  A review of the Settling Parties’ 

brief confirms this, as the vast majority is dedicated to joint arguments applicable to all the 
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Zamrzlas, or arguments specific to Johnny and Pamella.  Very few pages are expended on 

arguments specific to Johnny Lee and Jeanette only. 

 In response to the Zamrzlas declining to agree to the request, the Settling Parties contacted 

the Court – without informing or including the Zamrzlas – and obtained the relief they sought.  This 

constituted an improper ex parte communication with the Court and it resulted in a substantial 

material advantage to the Settling Parties.   

III.  CONCLUSION 

Is there a remedy for a party that was not served with notice of the Antelope Valley 

Groundwater Adjudication?  If the Settling Parties and the Watermaster are to be believed, the 

answer is no.  No party who was not served, or who was inadequately served, with notice of the 

adjudication can complain of that fact when it is discovered.  Rather, all the thousands of parties to 

the adjudication are now bound by the judgment, in perpetuity, regardless of due process or other 

extenuating circumstances.   

Notwithstanding the personal attacks, misrepresentations, and distractions from the Settling 

Parties and Watermaster, the evidence is clear that the Zamrzlas never received notice of the 

adjudication prior to the judgment.  For all of the reasons outlined in the Zamrzlas’ moving papers, 

and herein, they are entitled to equitable relief. 

 
Dated:  May 26, 2023 
 

MATHENY SEARS LINKERT & JAIME, LLP 
 
 
By:   

NICHOLAS R. SHEPARD, ESQ., Attorney 
for Defendants, “ZAMRZLA’S”) 
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